IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 73,756

TOMMY SANDS GROOVER,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY HELM SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative

BILLY H. NOLAS THOMAS H. DUNN

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

A. INTRODUCTION

This case came to this Court on appeal of the summary denial of Mr. Groover's Rule 3.850 motion. After reviewing the record this Court remanded for an evidentiary hearing to determine trial counsels' ineffectiveness for "failing to inquire into his [Mr. Groover's] competency to stand trial and for failing to order a psychiatric evaluation of appellant." <u>Groover v. State</u>, 489 So. 2d 15 (Fla. 1986). An evidentiary hearing was conducted. The lower court denied relief, but committed a number of errors in making that denial and erred in its ultimate disposition of Mr. Groover's claims. The record amply demonstrates Mr. Groover's entitlement to relief, and this action is now before this Court.

Prior to the submission of this brief, Mr. Groover, through counsel, requested that this Honorable Court hold this appeal in abeyance in order to afford him the opportunity to pursue before the lower court a motion for post-conviction relief which included, <u>inter alia</u>, claims predicated on <u>Hitchcock v. Dugger</u> and <u>Booth v. Maryland</u>. <u>See Downs v. Dugger</u>, 514 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1987) (<u>Hitchcock</u> opinion represents a significant change in law making claims predicated upon <u>Hitchcock</u> cognizable in Florida collateral actions); <u>Jackson v. Dugger</u>, 14 FLW ____ (Fla. 1989) (same, with regard to <u>Booth v. Maryland</u>). Neither <u>Booth</u> nor <u>Hitchcock</u> were available to Mr. Groover at the time of his initial Rule 3.850 action. At the time that this brief is being drafted, this Court has not yet ruled on Mr. Groover's motion. Mr. Groover on this date files his initial brief, pursuant to

the Court's briefing schedule, but continues to urge that these appellate proceedings be held in abeyance pending the disposition of his Rule 3.850 motion. Absent the granting of the relief sought in the motion to hold these appellate proceedings in abeyance, the Rule 3.850 action is subject to dismissal pursuant to this Court's decision in <u>State v. Meneses</u>, 392 So. 2d 905 (Fla. 1981). The <u>Hitchcock</u> and <u>Booth</u> claims, <u>inter alia</u>, which Mr. Groover has now presented to the trial court are far from frivolous, and the motion to hold in abeyance should therefore be granted.

Counsel for Mr. Groover note at the outset that no claim previously urged before this Court is abandoned or waived, notwithstanding the Court's limited remand. <u>See Groover v.</u> <u>State</u>, 489 So. 2d (Fla. 1986). However, counsel will not reiterate those claims herein.

B. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On May 17, 1982, Mr. Groover agreed to a negotiated plea under which he would plead guilty to one count of first degree murder, in exchange for a life sentence. On the same day, and as part of the plea agreement, Mr. Groover gave the State a sworn statement which was incriminating not only to the two indicted murders, but also to a third murder. As part of the agreement, Mr. Groover agreed to cooperate with the State in all aspects of the prosecution of Robert and Elaine Parker, his co-defendants. Of particular significance was the provision of the agreement which indicated that the statement given on May 17th could be used against Mr. Groover if he later refused to cooperate.

The next day, Mr. Groover appeared in court and entered a plea of guilty in accordance with the plea agreement. Over the next several months, Mr. Groover dealt with the prosecutors and the police exclusively and on his own without the benefit of his counsel. During this period, numerous incriminating statements were elicted from Mr. Groover, without counsel, during an extensive deposition at which he was apparently represented by an assistant state attorney. Having perfected the State's case against himself and his codefendants, Mr. Groover then withdrew his plea. Mr. Groover is mentally retarded, brain damaged, and mentally ill.

On August 12, 1982, his counsel, Mr. Nichols, withdrew from the case and the court appointed Mr. Shore. On August 20, 1982, Mr. Groover officially withdrew his plea. His position worsened. He was indicted for a third murder, based largely upon his sworn statements. Mr. Groover's case proceeded to trial at which the defense was that he had been present but had not taken an active part and could do nothing to stop the murders because of his fear of Robert Parker, the codefendant. His defense was based solely upon his testimony. At sentencing, Mr. Shore presented Mr. Groover and his mother who both gave a short statement to the jury. Ironically, Mr. Groover was sentenced to death by the jury for the third murder only, the one on which he was not originally indicted -- Mr. Groover "waived" himself into the electric chair.

All of this happened to Mr. Groover without anyone considering that they were dealing with a brain damaged, mentally retarded, mentally ill, illiterate drug addict. All of this happened to Mr. Groover while he was improperly drugged by the

State with large dosages of an anti-psychotic drug. Neither of his attorneys knew this. The judge did not know this. The jury did not know this.

The facts relevant to the claims for relief are discussed in the body of this brief, as they relate to the individual claims presented.

C. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Mr. Groover was indicted on two counts of first degree murder on February 25, 1982 (R. 2). Mr. Groover entered a plea of guilty to one count of murder, pursuant to a negotiated agreement, made several official statements at the request of the prosecution and was called as a witness at a deposition by the codefendants' attorneys, at which he again made statements. Thereafter, Mr. Groover's attorney withdrew the guilty plea. Subsequently, on August 26, 1983, Mr. Groover was reindicted, this time on three counts of murder (R. 33). The new indictment (3 counts) was based on the statements elicited from Mr. Groover after the guilty plea.

Mr. Groover was convicted by a jury of three counts of first degree murder on January 8, 1983 (RT. 1614). After a penalty phase, the jury recommended death only on Count III (Dalton), (R. 252-4). However the trial court overrode the jury as to Count I (Padgett) and imposed the death penalty on Counts I and III, and life imprisonment on Count II on February 18, 1983 (R. 268-70).

The convictions and sentences were appealed to this Court and affirmed. <u>Groover v. State</u>, 458 So. 2d 226 (Fla. 1984). Certiorari review was thereafter denied. <u>Groover v. Florida</u>, 105 U.S. 1877 (1985).

On May 7, 1986 the Governor of Florida denied clemency and signed a death warrant. Mr. Groover filed a Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence, a request for an evidentiary hearing, and a Motion for Stay of Execution on June 1, 1986, which were summarily denied by the circuit court on that same day. Mr. Groover appealed the denial of the Rule 3.850 motion, the request for evidentiary hearing and the request for a stay of execution.

On appeal, this Court remanded the case to circuit court for evidentiary resolution of two issues contained in the Rule 3.850 motion and affirmed the summary denial of the remaining issues. <u>Groover v. State</u>, 489 So. 2d 15 (Fla. 1986). On remand, the circuit court held an evidentiary hearing on two issues: whether defense counsel were ineffective for failing to 1) inquire into Mr. Groover's competency and 2) request a psychiatric evaluation of Mr. Groover. The evidentiary hearing was held on July 17-19, 1986, after seven days notice to counsel for Mr. Groover.

Two years later, on August 20, 1988 the circuit court entered an Order Denying Motion to Vacate. The order was a verbatim regurgitation of the State's post-hearing memorandum, except for very selective transcript quotes which the lower court included in its order. <u>No</u> transcript was ever provided to defense counsel, and it was only after the record on appeal was received that counsel (who were not involved in the evidentiary hearing) noticed that many of the quotations were simply wrong and misleading -- for example, many of the quotations stop in the midst of the witnesses' statements (and sometimes sentences) and completely exclude anything that was said supporting Mr. Groover's position. On September 7, 1988 Mr. Groover filed a

Motion for Rehearing, pointed out some of the obvious problems then apparent in the order, and requested a transcript. Rehearing was denied on January 26, 1988. No transcript was provided to counsel by the trial court. Notice of appeal was timely filed. Mr. Groover's claims are now before this Court.

ARGUMENT

CLAIM I

TOMMY GROOVER'S ORGANIC BRAIN DAMAGE AND MENTAL RETARDATION, COMBINED WITH THE IMPROPER MEDICATING OF MR. GROOVER BY THE STATE DURING ALL CRITICAL TRIAL-LEVEL PROCEEDINGS, RENDERED HIM INCOMPETENT TO STAND TRIAL AND CAPITAL SENTENCING, AND COUNSEL WERE INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO CONDUCT A REASONABLE INVESTIGATION INTO THESE ISSUES IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

This Court in its opinion of June 3, 1986, <u>Groover v. State</u>, 489 So. 2d 15 (Fla. 1986), remanded the motion to vacate in order to have evidence presented on the questions of Mr. Groover's competency to stand trial due to his various mental health deficits and the State's continuous administration to him of heavy doses of antipsychotic medication (e.g., Mellaril) and his former counsel's failure to pursue the matters. An evidentiary hearing was held and, as will be shown herein, the trial court erred in its conclusion that Mr. Groover was not entitled to receive the relief sought (H 210).¹

(footnote continued on following page)

¹It should also be noted here that the "Discussion of the Law and Conclusions" (H. 201-210) in the lower court's 101 page order was lifted verbatim from the state's post-hearing memorandum (H. 104-110). The lower court made every finding that the State asked for, and ignored the voluminous evidence

With regard to Mr. Groover's competency claim the lower court found:

6. The defendant exhibited no behavior whatsoever in the pretrial or trial phases of this case that would indicate that he was mentally deficient or under the influence of any drug to the extent his normal faculties were impaired.

(H. 211). In saying this, the lower court completely ignored not only clear, ample record evidence to the contrary but all of the expert and lay testimony presented by Mr. Groover at the evidentiary hearing. The testimony at the evidentiary hearing included the account of several experts in the mental health area that discussed Mr. Groover's mental impairments and how those impairments would be exacerbated by Mellaril, the drug which the State gave Mr. Groover, without notice to counsel, during each critical stage of the initial proceedings.

Dr. James Merikangas, a neuro-psychiatrist many times qualified as a forensic expert, testified that Mellaril, the trade name of Thioridazine, is an anti-psychotic drug that is used in the treatment of psychosis and that in small doses it is a major tranquilizer (H.T. 124). Psychosis is defined as "a general term for any major mental disorder of organic and/or emotional origin characterized by derangement of the personality and loss of contact with reality, often with delusion,

⁽footnote continued from previous page)

presented at the hearing in support of Mr. Groover's claims. It is therefore difficult to see how that court's ruling could have provided Mr. Groover with the well reasoned review which Rule 3.850 requires: the lower court simply regurgitated the State's words.

hallucinations, or illusions." Dorland's Illustrated <u>Medical</u> <u>Dictionary</u> (26th Edition). Dr. Merikangas reviewed the records kept by the jail of Mr. Groover's incarceration and found that Mr. Groover had been given doses of up to 500 milligrams a day during his incarceration (H.T. 124). (<u>See also</u> record references at M. 379,384,385,392,399,401,402,403,404). Mellaril is prescribed for the "management of manifestations of psychotic disorders." Physician's Desk Reference (PDR) (1985 ed.), p. 1804.

In addition, Mr. Groover was also being given Sinequan, a drug recommended for treatment of

1. Psychoneurotic patients with depression and/or anxiety. 2. Depression and/or anxiety associated with alcoholism (not to be taken concomitantly with alcohol). 3. Depression and/or anxiety associated with organic disease (the possibility of drug interaction should be considered if the patient is receiving other drugs concomitantly). 4. Psychotic depressive disorders with associated anxiety including involutional depression and manic-depressive disorders.

PDR, p. 1740. Recommended dosages of Sinequan for patients with "illness of mild to moderate severity" is 75 milligrams per day. PDR, p. 1740. Mr. Groover was often receiving as much as one hundred and fifty (150) milligrams (mg) per day (M. 373,375, 376, 380, 403).

Mr. Groover also received Robaxin while incarcerated. Robaxin is to be used "as an adjunct to rest, physical therapy, and other measures for the relief of discomforts associated with acute, painful musculoskeletal conditions." PDR, p. 1662. A usual dosage for adults is three 500 mg tablets per day. PDR, p. 1662. Mr. Groover was receiving <u>six</u> 500 mg. tablets per day at

the same time he received the Mellaril and the Sinequan (M. 370, 371, 373, 375,382, 389,399, 417). The effects of these drugs on a normal person would be serious enough. The effects of the combination of these misprescribed drugs on a mentally ill and brain damaged person are simply devastating. But there was more. Mr. Groover was also given Vistaril during this same time period (H.T. 666, M. 374,) which is a drug for the treatment of anxiety associated with psychoneurosis, PDR, p. 1613. These drugs should not be given in conjunction with each other, for they virtually destroy a person's ability to act or think rationally. Mr. Groover was literally doped up during the time he took a guilty plea, made statements incriminating himself, withdrew the guilty plea, stood trial, and received a death sentence. Defense counsel did nothing about this -- the first attorney (Nichols) did not know about it (he never showed up when his client gave statements or at his client's deposition), the second (Shore) learned about it when he read the deposition transcript, but then did nothing about it.

On July, 8, 1982, the day preceding his deposition, which the State attended but defense counsel did not, Mr. Groover was administered the following drugs: 25 mg. of Sinequan (M. 381), 3000 mg. of Robaxin (M. 382), and 3 tsps. or 300 mgs. of Mellaril (R. 384). During the deposition, Mr. Groover was given Mellaril (H.T. 574, M. 498) at least once. These drugs continued to be prescribed and administered to Mr. Groover up to and through trial (M. 419-437; H.T. 630).

Even according to the State's witnesses, Mellaril is a powerful drug appropriate only for treatment of psychotic

behavior. Dr. Ernest Carl Miller stated at the Rule 3.850 hearing: "I think that with a mentally retarded individual one must be as with older people and younger people more judicious in the administration of this powerful drug" since it could produce "paradoxical responses" or responses which are the opposite of what is anticipated (H.T. 625-26). Dr. Antoine Innocent, a psychiatrist testifying for the State, testified that when he saw Tommy Groover in June of 82, Mr. Groover was "not psychotic" (H.T. 660). On the basis of that fifteen (15) minute interview, and without the benefit of any testing or physical examination, Dr. Innocent prescribed Mellaril for this mentally retarded and brain damaged individual. Why Dr. Innocent would prescribe a serious anti-psychotic drug to an individual who he belived not to be psychotic is a question which Dr. Innocent could not answer.²

This powerful anti-psychotic drug was prescribed and administered in varying dosages and in combination with various other anti-psychotic drugs, as well as "muscle relaxant" drugs and a host of other medications including cold remedies, laxatives, pain relievers, etc. (M. 370-437). All this was in a period of time from at least June of 1982 through trial in January of 1983, virtually through every critical stage of the criminal proceedings against Mr. Groover.

²Dr. Innocent testified that Mr. Groover told him he was serving a 25-year prison term for <u>second degree murder</u> (H.T. 660; 673). Such indications of Mr. Groover's inability to understand the charges against him, among others, were ignored by defense counsel, the prosecutor (who dealt exclusively with Mr. Groover for some time), and the doctor (who saw Mr. Groover for fifteen minutes).

In the lower court's summary of the witness testimony, the testimony of all defense witnesses was summarized almost exclusively by portions of cross-examination. The court, after admitting many of these witnesses as experts in their respective fields, then proceeded to ignore the substance of the opinions each expressed.

Mr. William White, qualified as an expert in preparing and conducting capital sentencings, testified that reasonably competent counsel would be concerned upon learning that the client was being prescribed a psychotropic drug such as Mellaril while incarcerated (H.T. 55). According to Mr. White, jail authorities often medicate people simply to control them rather than to treat a mental illness (H.T. 55). The fact of the medication, however, should be a trigger to reasonably competent counsel that further investigation is necessary. This is especially so since the attorney is not a mental health expert and cannot determine a diagnosis or whether there is a legitimate need for psychotropic medications. The attorney should consult with a mental health expert to provide these answers (H.T. 66). Defense counsel here never did.

The other attorney expert called by the defense was Richard H. Burr, an attorney with seven years experience focusing almost exclusively on capital litigation.³ Mr. Burr detailed the steps

³Mr. Burr is also an expert consultant for Florida's Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services with regard to mental health issues, and serves on an advisory committee on the development of standards for psychological and psychiatric forensic examinations in criminal cases.

reasonably competent counsel would take in determining whether mental health issues are present in a capital case. First, counsel would look to the circumstances of the crime and see if there is evidence of, for example: drug use or excessive violence that might indicate rage attacks or some other mental disturbance, and in co-defendant cases, he should look to see if there is dominance by one defendant. This was not done here. He would next observe the client in an interview and look for signs of slow speech, distorted thoughts, memory lapses, illogical progression of thoughts, etc., would then look to see how others perceive the client, would look at the client's history, through records from schools, military, hospitals, and any other source that may be available, would interview family and friends, and would consider any bizarre actions taken by the client. Each of these areas may provide indicators that mental health issues should be further investigated and an expert evaluation sought by reasonably competent counsel (H.T. 258-264). In each of these areas, Mr. Groover showed clear signs of a very diminished level of mental health functioning. Defense counsel took no action.

Mr. Burr interviewed Mr. Groover and reviewed the following: Mr. Groover's May 17 statement, the transcript of the guilty plea (May 18), Mr. Groover's deposition (July 9), the hearing for substitution of counsel, the hearing for the withdrawal of the plea, the suppression hearing, and various other portions of the trial transcript (H.T. 263).⁴ Based on his expertise in the

⁴The lower court's ruling that the various experts presented by Mr. Groover did not know the record is absolutely rebutted by the Rule 3.850 record itself and by the testimony of the experts at the Rule 3.850 hearing.

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