# SID J. WHITE

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### SEP 25 1989

AVAREME COURT Deputy Merk

TOMMY SANDS GROOVER,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 73,756

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER #239161 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

####

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court thoroughly reviewed and considered the testimony and evidence before it in deciding that Mr. Groover was not incompetent to stand trial and that his lawyers were not ineffective. Given the existence of substantial record support for these findings, the decision must be affirmed.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT'S DETERMINATION THAT MR. GROOVER WAS COMPETENT AND THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WERE EFFECTIVE IN THEIR REPRESENTATION SHOULD BE AFFIRMED

Mr. Groover's first point on appeal raises two distinct issues. First, Groover challenges his competence to stand trial. Second, he challenges the competence of his attorneys for failing to raise or investigate a mental health defense. These issues will be disposed of in order.

At the outset, we would note that this Honorable Court, starting with Tibbs v. State, 397 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1981), long ago held that it would not permit appellate review to be exploited as a "trial de novo", "by transcript". The only issue on appeal, therefore, is the existence of record support for the lower court's decision. The evidence is discussed only to facilitate that process. Ferguson v. State, 471 So.2d 631 (Fla. 1982).

#### (A) Groover's Competence

At the outset, the State will respond to certain factual averments in Mr. Groover's brief which are clearly incorrect.

First, Mr. Groover's counsel's attempt at interpreting the Physician's Desk Reference (P.D.R.) is incompetent and unsupported by medical testimony. Counsel is not an expert in pharmacology and cannot offer his own testimony to augment his record. Second, on page (9), Groover's brief alleges that Groover was taking Vistaril at the same time he was taking Mellaril, citing to page (T 666). The testimony at (T 666) is clear: Groover was taken off Vistaril before being placed on Mellaril.

Third, Dr. Antoine Innocent did explain why Mellaril was given to Groover (to combat depression and sleeplessness). (T 660). Groover's behavior was monitored and his competence was not affected. (T 669). Groover, as a drug user, could tolerate higher doses of Mellaril, et al, than a regular patient could, a fact conspicuous by its absence from Groover's brief.

Mr. Groover's theory of the case was most unsettling. Groover's sworn petition alleged that he was retarded, brain damaged, addicted and incompetent prior to his arrest; and that the court permitted him to be doped, tried and sentenced to death while he was little more than a zombie. This argument, while good theater, is simply absurd.

To manufacture a supporting case, Groover hired the most reliable anti-death-stable "experts" he could find. Dr. Krop, Dr. Merikangas, Mr. White and Mr. Burr require no introduction. Groover also hired an audiologist, Dr. Smith, at virtually the last minute so he could insert a new, unpled, clam of deafness into his 3.850 hearing. Groover also hired an expert, Dr. Greenburg, who ended up disappointing him.

Overzealous advocates will sometimes become so wrapped up in the justness of their cause that, in preparing their witnesses, they will forget to give them all the requisite data. This, apparently, is what happened here and the results were catastrophic for Groover; to-wit:

- 15 -

(1)After leading Dr. Smith down the primrose path of saying Groover could neither hear nor express himself competently, CCR abandoned Smith to cross-examination. Dr. Smith had never seen Groover's hundreds of pages of depositions and courtroom testimony in which he manifested none of the difficulties she had predicted.

(2) Poor Dr. Greenburg, also "set up" by incomplete data, was frankly "puzzled" when, for the first time, he saw transcripts in which Groover behaved in a manner contrary to Greenburg's predictions.

Dr. Krop flatly responded by stating (3) that he would not opine that Groover was incompetent (a fact missing from Groover's brief) and, in addition, he declared that Groover is competent now. This declaration evoked a comical cross-examination in which Mr. Olive attacked his own witness' conclusions regarding competence as being based upon too little data. (T 213).

This desolate presentation could not be rescued by Dr. Merikangas, a strident ideologue whose anti-death testimony in Bertolotti v. State, 534 So.2d 386 (Fla. 1988), was rejected by his brethren as, in their words, "hogwash". So strident was Merikangas that he declared he did not need records to render an opinion, he did not care if the transcripts contradicted his theory, he did not believe in jury verdicts and he would never accept as truthful any information given to him by a prosecutor. Despite Rule 3.211, Merikangas felt that Groover's ability to consult with his lawyer was unimportant. Merikangas came across, even in the transcripts, as a pompous and biased witness, saying what he was hired to say at any cost.

Taken in its best possible light, the testimony of Groover's experts established nothing more than the possibility of organic mental problems or low intelligence. Neither of these conditions compel a finding of incompetence to stand trial. Bush v. Wainwright, 505 So.2d 409 (Fla. 1987); James v. State, 489 So.2d 737 (Fla. 1986); see also Penry v. Lynaugh, 492 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 106 Furthermore, the "diagnoses" of Groover's L.Ed.2d 256 (1989). experts were simply too tentative and imprecise, due either to lack of data or their stated inability to reach a conclusion, see James v. State, 489 So.2d 737 (Fla. 1986), see also Card v. State, 497 So.2d 1169 (Fla. 1986), to compel a finding of incompetence. Indeed, the Court would not have been obliged to follow the findings of Groover's experts in any event. Wallace v. Kemp, 757 F.2d 1102 (11th Cir. 1985); Strickland v. Francis, 738 F.2d 1542 (11th Cir. 1984); Bundy v. Dugger, 850 F.2d 1402 (11th Cir. 1988); Booker v. State, 413 So.2d 756 (Fla. 1982); Card v. State, supra.

Of course, the propriety of the lower court's opinion becomes even more obvious when we factor into this equation the compelling evidence offered by the State.

Unlike Groover's experts, our experts were given all relevant facts. Unlike Groover's witnesses, the State's witnesses (except Dr. Miller) saw, heard and interacted with Groover at the trial or before. Unlike Groover's circumstantial case, in which assumptions regarding competence were made, the State put on direct evidence in the form of records and eyewitness testimony.

As noted in Bundy v. Dugger, 675 F.Supp. 622 (M.D. Fla. 1987), aff'd, 850 F.2d 1402 (11th Cir. 1988), trial courts are entitled to believe the expert and opinion testimony that is

- 17 -

corroborated by the trial record. That, in a nutshell, is what Judge Olliff did.

#### (B) Competence of Counsel

Mr. White and Mr. Burr did not base their so-called expert testimony on the standards set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 688 (1984), but rather relied upon hindsight and in assessing counsels' strategic preferences personal Neither expert researched the case, read all the performance. records or even bothered to interview both trial lawyers or anyone else involved in the case. (Both uninformed lawyers, Burr and White, when had the effrontery to question Nichols' and Shores' investigations).

Mr. White baldly stated that counsel should always seek psychiatric evaluations in every capital case whether the client manifested symptoms of mental illness or not. This, of course, is not even the proper legal standard. See Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.210(b). It does, however, reflect the tendency of some lawyers, especially in death cases, to simply file boilerplate claims (Hitchcock, Booth, Strickland claims, etc.) no matter what the truth is.

Mr. Burr at least took the trouble to look at swatches of select testimony in an effort and bolster his opinion. Burr lifted comments by Groover, out of context, to manufacture "red flags" that frankly are barely visible even by hindsight. For example, Burr alleged that Groover's deposition reflects (see ROA 398-400) an inability to use a ruler that translates into retardation or mental illness. An intelligent examination of the transcript shows us that:

- 18 -

(1) Groover approximated the size of a handgun but, due to illiteracy, not illness, would not use a ruler.

(2) Groover approximated the size of the gun and expressed that size in inches.

(3) Groover also guessed the **make**, manufacture and caliber of the gun. In doing so, he mentioned his (memory) of what Parker usually carried as a weapon.

None of Groover's remarks reflected mental illness and assuredly not mental illness sufficient to question competence.

Mr. Burr's theories that counsel must always "investigate" mental status and do so until a favorable diagnosis is obtained were rejected in two cases in which he participated as counsel. Foster v. Strickland, 707 F.2d 1339 (11th Cir. 1983), and Foster v. Dugger, 823 F.2d 402 (11th Cir. 1987). Those cases clearly hold that counsel is under no duty to pursue favorable mental health evaluations, to exhaustively investigate when initial investigations provide no basis for additional research, or to shop for friendly doctors of the ilk of a Merikangas. Even Strickland, which involved a similar claim to the one at bar, places no such burden on counsel. See Washington v. State, 397 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1981); Blanco v. State, 507 So.2d 1377 (Fla. 1987).

Groover, of course, had to prove that he received totally incompetent assistance from two highly qualified trial lawyers "back to back." Logically, one lawyer might have erred, but **two** lawyers? This assertion is very unreasonable, at best.

The simple truth is that Groover's lawyers spoke to his family. These relatives, at that time, offered no information

such as they gave collateral counsel on the "eve" of Groover's execution. Groover gave no information to counsel. Groover manifested no symptoms of incompetence.

Groover was, however, going to defend himself on a theory that he was merely present while Parker and Long murdered the victims. This defensive strategy required a showing that Groover had a good memory and could be believed. This defense is inconsistent with the now-touted "zombie" defense and clearly shows us that Groover never intended to question his competence. Under these circumstances given Groover's obvious and competence to stand trial - Groover cannot show the "probability" of a different result necessary to establish the prejudice prong of Strickland even if he could prove "error". Lambrix v. State, So.2d (Fla. 1988) [13 F.L.W. 697].

Tommy Groover came across as competent to everyone who dealt with him. At his hearing, he failed to produce even one witness (from the trial) who would attest to any suspicions regarding his competence. Counsel cannot be compelled to raise baseless claims just to stave off future collateral attacks. Strickland, supra, and cannot be compelled to raise sanity or competency issues when they do not question their client's abilities. Blanco, supra.

Since Groover was "competent", there is no foundation for any claim that counsel erred in not having him tested (since there was no "incompetence" to be found anyway).

Groover, therefore, has established neither error nor prejudice under Strickland. What he has shown is the desire to retry his case under an alternative strategy. This, in the words

- 20 -

of the Ninth Circuit, would (if allowed) be a total "perversion of justice". Curry v. Wilson, 405 F.2d 110 (9th Cir. 1968). The law is supposed to involve a search for the truth. It is not a poker game in which murderers continually receive new cards until the can construct a winning hand.

Groover was an active participant in the crime spree of February 6, 1982. Indeed, co-defendant Parker - using a defense similar to Groover's - has alleged that he (Parker) was dominated by Tommy Groover. See Parker v. State, 491 So.2d 532 (Fla. 1986); Parker v. Dugger, \_\_\_\_\_ F.2d \_\_\_\_, Case No. 88-3189 (11th Cir. 1989). At all time relevant to this cause, Groover was sane and competent.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE II

### MR. GROOVER WAS NOT "DENIED" A MENTAL HEALTH EXAMINATION

Groover's second point again presents a double argument. First, Groover seems to argue that the trial court was obliged to order an examination of Groover sua sponte. Second, Groover says his lawyers were incompetent for not having him evaluated and then raising an insanity defense. Both claims are readily refuted.

#### (A) Trial Court Error

Groover's brief, at page 29, quotes half of a sentence from Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68, 84 L.Ed.2d 53 (1985), to misstate the applicable legal standard. Groover's brief says that "a defendant is entitled to an independent competent mental health expert evaluation when the State makes his or her mental state relevant to "his criminal culpability" and to the punishment he might suffer."

The truth is, Ake says that a defendant is "entitled" to a mental health evaluation when, in the above noted situation, the defendant "demonstrates to the trial judge" the need for an evaluation. (id., at L.Ed.2d 66). In fact, the rest of the sentence only half-quoted by Groover says that the assistance of a psychiatrist "may" (not "shall") be crucial.

The transcripts of the trial show that Groover never demonstrated incompetence to the court. That is why the issue was not argued on appeal and why the transcripts are not relied upon by Groover or his hired-gun "experts" now.

- 22 -

Groover's cited cases do not help him either.

In Futch v. Dugger, 874 F.2d 1483 (11th Cir. 1989), the defendant was declared incompetent by a psychiatrist and, apparently, defense counsel knew it.

In W.S.L. v. State, 470 So.2d 828 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985), the defendant, in a murder-sexual battery case, was a nine year child who abused a small baby.

In Hill v. State, 473 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1985), the defendant was recommended for psychiatric treatment prior to trial, he could not communicate with counsel and he behaved oddly in court.

Groover communicated with counsel, he appeared competent, he testified on his own behalf at length and in detail. His behavior was appropriate. There is simply no evidence that Groover was not processing information or acting incompetently at the time. Bundy v. Dugger, 675 F.Supp. 622 (M.D. Fla. 1987); Bundy v. Dugger, 850 F.2d 1402 (11th Cir. 1988). Without manifesting symptoms, no hearing or evaluation was required. Collins v. Housewright, 664 F.2d 181 (8th Cir. 1981); Williams v. Bordenkircher, 696 F.2d 464 (6th Cir. 1981); Scarborough v. United States, 683 F.2d 1323 (11th Cir. 1982); Reese v. Wainwright, 600 F.2d 1085 (5th Cir. 1979); Thomas v. Kemp, 796 F.2d 1322 (11th Cir. 1986); Fallada v. Wainwright, 819 F.2d 1564 (11th Cir. 1987), and Boag v. Raines, 769 F.2d 1341 (9th Cir. 1984).

Groover has failed to establish (1) his incompetence, and (2) record behavior that the trial judge failed to notice. Thus, his first claim fails.

- 23 -

#### (B) Trial Counsel

Groover next raises the tired old argument that trial counsel must investigate and prepare a mental health defense in every single case. His "expert", Mr. Burr, is a well known unsuccessful proponent of this discredited theory. Foster v. Strickland, supra, and Foster v. Dugger, supra.<sup>6</sup>

Groover appeared competent to two successive, capable and experienced trial lawyers in a row. These lawyers and Groover settled upon a trial strategy that would portray Parker and Long as the killers while Groover was "merely present". This defense meant that Groover - who was to testify - had to establish both credibility and a good memory; not drug use, irrational conduct and a bad memory. Groover can point to no law requiring his counsel to put forward conflicting evidence (at either phase of the trial) or faulting counsel for making a strategic choice -In fact, counsel cannot be faulted at all for even if "bad". their strategic decision. Beckham v. Wainwright, 639 F.2d 262 (5th Cir. 1981); Foster v. Strickland, supra; Foster v. Dugger, supra; Willis v. Newsome, 747 F.2d 605 (11th Cir. 1985). Here, we must recall that Nichols won Groover a "plea" that might have gone to Parker's wife in a footrace. That plea required Groover to testify - and Groover did, for a time. An "incompetent" Groover could not reap the strategic benefits of the plea. When Mr. Shore got this case, Groover's competence and ability to both

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>o</sup> As noted before, expert opinions do not bind the courts anyway. This is particularly true of lawyer-experts in capital collateral proceedings. See e.g., Lusk v. State, 498 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1986).

plead and testify were well established. Mr. Shore, as an ethical attorney, could not be expected to raise or pursue a meritless "incompetence" defense in violation of Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.210(c). Even though counsel learned Groover was getting Mellaril as a sleeping aid, we note that medication can render a defendant competent, too, Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.215(c) and thus not require counsel to manufacture a particular defense.

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